IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-00207

SANDRA COLEMAN

PLAINTIFF- APPELLANT

VS.

FORD MOTOR COMPANY

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEALED FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

Ralph E. Chapman, Esq. Sara B. Russo, Esq. CHAPMAN, LEWIS & SWAN Post Office Box 428 Clarksdale, Mississippi 38614 662-627-4105 Attorneys for Appellant

John M. Montgomery, Esq. Post Office Box 891 Starkville, MS 39760 (662)-323-6919 Attorney for Appellant

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF POSITION REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Appellant respectfully requests oral argument. This appeal presents numerous legal issues, and an oral argument would be beneficial to this Court and to the parties.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI BRIEF OF APPELLANT

COMES NOW, the Appellant /Plaintiff, Sandra Coleman, by and through counsel, and files this her Brief of Appellant. The Appellant would state unto the Court that the trial court incorrectly applied the law to the facts presented at trial, which resulted in an unjust trial and injustice in the verdict. Therefore, the final judgment should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

I.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Error occurred by the introduction of irrelevant evidence to establish the cause of the initial accident, and allowing the privileged medical records of Appellant's / Plaintiff's decedent over the objection of and assertion of the physician-patient privilege by Appellant / Plaintiff.
- 2. Error occurred in allowing evidence concerning the underlying fault and/or negligence of Appellant's / Plaintiff's decedent and the driver of the other vehicle, Janice Hudson, as it related to the first collision, which resulted not only in confusion, but created bias, passion and prejudice against the Appellant / Plaintiff, contrary to the crashworthiness doctrine. Appellant / Plaintiff sought recovery under the crashworthiness doctrine and law and sought only damages for enhanced injuries and death, related to a post-collision fire, which occurred minutes after the accident crash between Appellant's / Plaintiff's decedent Randy Coleman and Janice Hudson.
- 3. Error occurred in failing to instruct the jury to disregard remarks made by counsel for Appellee / Defendant in the closing argument after sustaining Appellant's / Plaintiff's objection to inflammatory comments. Those remarks concerned the inability of Appellant / Plaintiff to point out and/ or describe other incidents or accidents, which, when coupled with Appellee's / Defendant's counsel's previous objectionable statements and remarks in opening, to the same

effect, resulted in the Appellant / Plaintiff being denied an opportunity to obtain a fair trial and resulted in bias, passion and prejudice against the Appellant / Plaintiff.

- 4. Error occurred by the denial of the introduction of testimony and admissions contained therein of Appellee's / Defendant's M.R.C.P. 30(b)(6) corporate representative, Mr. Sunil Sharma, which testimony was excluded.
- 5. Error occurred by the granting of certain Appellee's / Defendant's instructions, which were contrary to the crashworthiness doctrine and in granting Appellee's / Defendant's instruction, D-3 and in the denial of instruction Appellant's / Plaintiff's jury instruction, P-20. Error was also created by not giving a Preliminary Instruction, as stated in Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 3.14, before permitting the jury to take notes.
- 6. Error occurred by Appellant / Plaintiff being denied challenges for cause and in allowing current Ford F-150 owners to remain on the jury panel despite the availability of substantial available jurors.
- 7. Error occurred in the denial of Appellant's / Plaintiff's objection to the expert testimony of Ralph Newell, Appellee's / Defendant's fire cause and origin expert, whose testimony was speculative and was not based on reasonable certainty and was based on a claim that a propane torch or an air conditioner / capacitor could or might have somehow ignited a can of electrical tape which had been punctured by a hunting knife and this was the cause of the firenot the defective fuel lines.
- 8. The verdict of the jury was against and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the result of an aggregate of errors and the introduction of inadmissible, privileged and inflammatory evidence and objectionable statements of counsel, and the result of bias, passion and/or prejudice as against the Appellant / Plaintiff, and justice requires a new trial be granted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

The crash occurred March 23, 2001, when the deceased, Randy Coleman was operating his vehicle, a 1999 Ford F150 4x4 pickup truck in an easterly direction on and along Mississippi Highway No. 14 in Noxubee County, Mississippi. (Tr. Ex. P-11, Id) Appellant / Plaintiff filed suit on or about December 30, 2002, alleging that after the impact, the Appellant's / Plaintiff's decedent's vehicle caught fire, as a result of a breached fuel line, poorly routed and largely unprotected, leading from the tank to the fuel rail of the subject vehicle, which resulted in the decedent's severe burn injuries and eventual death on April 20, 2004. (R. 37 -43). The Coleman family is not seeking damages for the decedent, Randy Coleman's rib, ankle and traumatic damages from the accident itself, only the post-accident/collision fuel fed fire injuries and eventual death of Randy Coleman from the burn injuries. *Id*.

The trial was originally set for February 22, 2005, and was continued over Appellant's / Plaintiff's objection until March 28, 2005, and again continued to May 9, 2005. (R. 3638, 3695). The matter was stayed on April 19, 2005, on the basis of a forthcoming petition for interlocutory appeal to this Court on evidentiary rulings by the trial court on the issues of comparative fault principles in an enhanced injury case and the allowing of evidence of decedent's blood alcohol content during the trial of the matter. (R. 4267-4268, 4693-4699, 4705). A petition for interlocutory appeal was filed with this Court, and the petition and subsequent motion for rehearing were denied. (R. 4708, 4709). The trial in this matter commenced on February 19, 2008, at the Lowndes County Courthouse, Columbus, Mississippi before Honorable Circuit Court Judge James Kitchens. (R. 4712).

Previously, on or about January 4, 2005, Appellant /Plaintiff filed her Motion in Limine to

Exclude Blood Alcohol Test Results and Evidence Relating to Alcohol Consumption and her Motion in Limine to Exclude Any Reference to Randy Coleman's Comparative Fault, if Any. (R. 516-521, 680-682). These motions were heard at a pretrial conference on April 12, 2005, and a written Opinion and Order by the trial court denying these motions was filed on or about June 3, 2005. (R. 4693-4699). In this order, the trial court acknowledge that "[t]he Plaintiff herein is not seeking damages for the injuries sustained by the decedent during the actual collision of the two pickup trucks. Instead, the Plaintiff seeks recovery from the Defendants for the burn injuries the decedent suffered as a result of the fire that occurred after the initial collision." (R. 4694-4695). Despite this finding, the trial court still did not find that Toliver v. Gen. Motors Corp., 482 So. 2d 213 (Miss. 1986) nor Hunter v. Gen. Motors Corp., 729 So. 2d 1264 (Miss. 1999) dictated a per se exclusion of evidence regarding whether or not the decedent, Randy Coleman, was driving under the influence at the time of the subject accident. (R. 4695-4697). The trial court also refused to apply the medical privilege laws of Mississippi to the testimony and evidence regarding the blood alcohol content of Randy Coleman. (R. 4697-4699). Testimony and evidence regarding the blood alcohol content of Randy Coleman and his alleged comparative fault by the Appellee / Defendant was elicited throughout the trial of this matter from the opening statements made by counsel for Appellee / Defendant through their closing arguments. Appellee/ Defendant's expert accident reconstructionist. Jarrod Carter, went into detail regarding the fault of Randy Coleman in causing this accident despite the lack of physical evidence in any other lane of travel besides Coleman's lane of travel. (Tr. 1517, 1520-1522). Another one of Appellee's / Defendant's expert witnesses, Dr. Thomas Pittman, an expert in the field of forensic toxicology, provided extensive opinions regarding Randy Coleman's blood alcohol content at the time of the subject accident, irrespective that this blood alcohol content

played no role in the enhanced injuries that Randy Coleman received. (Tr. 1550-1554, 1558-1560).

Voir dire began on the morning of February 19, 2008, and by the end of the afternoon, the twelve member jury panel plus alternate jurors were selected. During the selection process, several jurors (total of 20 out of a venire of 55 jurors) responded in the affirmative when Mr. Chapman, counsel for Appellant / Plaintiff, asked "How many of you here drive or have driven a Ford F-150 pickup truck?". (Tr. 184-196). When Mr. Chapman requested that the trial court excuse these juror from the panel, the request was refused. (Tr. 233-238). One venire member, number 54, responded in the affirmative to this response, and when addressed by the trial court as a challenge for cause for this reason and for her responses regarding there being too many lawsuits, the trial court responded as follows:

I know Ms. Dunn, and if she told you she's going to do something, she'll do it. If this was a medical malpractice lawsuit, I probably would not keep her on there, but I believe her, and I take her at her word. I know her well enough to know that. So I'm not going to remove her for cause

(Tr. 232).

Afer voir dire, Mr. Chapman, again challenged the individuals who currently own a Ford F-150, which were a total of fifteen individuals, including jurors number 8, 11, 12, 15, and 16, and four of these individuals (numbers 8, 12, 15 and 16) who were on the twelve panel jury, and this request was again refused. (Tr. 233-238; R. 5758-5760).

The jury retired to deliberate around noon on Saturday, March 1, 2008. Juror William Bryant stood up as foreman and delivered the verdict to the clerk of the court to publish the verdict wherein the jury found for the Appellee / Defendant. (R. 5895-5896; Tr. 2034).

Appellant's / Plaintiff's post-trial motions were denied by the trial court, (R. 6047, 6051)

and the matter was timely appealed to this Court. (R. 6056-6066).

II. Statement of Facts

The subject accident occurred at about 1:30 in the afternoon when the deceased Randy Coleman was traveling east on Highway 14 and Ms. Hudson was traveling west. (Tr. 420, 427). The fire occurred post accident after several minutes. Coleman was trapped in his vehicle and was trying to get out with assistance. (Tr. 379-380). As stated throughout, the cause of the accident is irrelevant for this enhanced injury / crashworthiness case wherein the Appellant / Plaintiff sought only damages for the burn injuries and resulting death of Randy Coleman. Despite this fact and based on the trial court's previous rulings on allowing comparative fault, testimony regarding the accident was elicited at trial. The only eyewitness, Mr. David Dunaway, to seeing the two trucks impacting one another was coming out of a curve a considerable distance away from the accident (approximately 5000 feet) traveling in the opposite lane of travel from the deceased. (Tr. 375). Mr. Dunaway did not see either vehicle make any type of steering maneuver prior to the impact. (Tr. 377-378). When Mr. Dunaway arrived at Randy Coleman's vehicle, Mr. Coleman was alive trying to climb out of the window, and he observed flames coming out of the floorboard area around the right foot area. (Tr. 379-380). Mr. Coleman remained in the burning vehicle until the emergency personnel arrived with the proper equipment to remove him from the truck despite multiple efforts to remove him before they arrived along with efforts made to stop the fire which kept blazing up. (Tr. 386).

Two Mississippi Highway Patrol officers arrived at the accident scene. (Tr. 420). These officers made note that all three gouge marks from the accident were in the eastbound lane, which was Randy Coleman's lane of travel. (Tr. 427). No gouge marks, skid marks or yaw marks were

found in the westbound lane of travel, which was Ms. Hudson's lane of travel. (Tr. 428). No evidence was found from the accident that any part of the collision occurred in Ms. Hudson's lane of travel. (Tr. 431). There was also no evidence that Mr. Coleman made any type of abrupt move from a westbound lane into the eastbound lane. (Tr. 431-432).

Officer Vernon Hathcock arrived at the accident scene within eleven minutes from receiving the call. (Tr. 1325-1326). Officer Hathcock was within four to five feet of Mr. Coleman in the vehicle, and he did not smell any alcohol and no one else stated they smelled alcohol on Mr. Coleman. (Tr. 1329). Officer Hathcock also did not order a blood alcohol on Mr. Coleman due to their being no probable cause for such a test. (Tr. 1243, 1351). Blood alcohol information was introduced by Mr. Coleman's treating physician at the Delta Burn Center over objection by the Appellant / Plaintiff from a blood test taken over six hours after the accident and after several liters of fluids and other medicines had been given to Mr. Coleman. (Tr. 1357, 1359). In allowing this testimony by Dr. George, the trial court made unnecessary comments that Mr. Coleman should have been charged with vehicular manslaughter. (Tr. 1363).

At the time, around this time, the law changed about 63-11-8, but had Ms. Ervin and Ms. Harris been interviewed by law enforcement authorities, quite frankly, I fully expect that Mr. Allgood would have been presenting a case, had Mr. Coleman survived this, on a vehicular manslaughter, 63-11-30, and I can't remember back then [sic], I think it was subsection (5). It might have been subsection (6). But there would have probably very well been a case presented to a grand jury in Noxubee County on a DUI maining or a DUI manslaughter.

Id. Then, the trial court proceeded to give its interpretation of the gouge marks and/or skid marks found at the accident site. (Tr. 1364-1365).

Appellant/Plaintiff's accident reconstructionist provided the following opinions regarding the accident:

- Based on the evidence documented by the troopers, documented from their photographs and their measurements taken, the impact occurred in the eastbound lane (Randy Coleman's lane of travel).
- No physical evidence, such as scuffs, slides, yaws or gouge marks that either of these two vehicles swerved in the westbound lane (Ms. Hudson's lane of travel).

(Tr. 725-726).

Mr. William Bush, Appellant/Plaintiff's fire cause and origin expert, performed two detailed examinations of the subject vehicle. (Tr. 838). These inspections plus studying the police photographs provides the most information to an expert like Mr. Bush. (Tr. 839). Mr. Bush thoroughly studied the fire patterns and the oxidation patterns on the subject vehicle. A closeup photograph of the driver's seat depicting the rail where the seat slides showed the burned pattern and how the fire was coming from underneath and going up and out. (Tr. 872). The heavy fire damage was confined to the right side of the driver's seat and underneath this seat. (Tr. 876). Underneath this right hand portion of the driver's seat is located a grommet hole. (Tr. 878). The purpose of the grommet is for the wiring for the four-wheel drive to pass through it, and the grommet is made of rubber and has a lip on it. (Tr. 883). During a joint inspection of the subject vehicle, the underside parts were removed so a better view of the area around the grommet could be obtained. (Tr. 885). The supply and delivery fuel lines run underneath this grommet area. (Tr. 887). Mr. Charlie Miller, Appellant / Plaintiff's expert in the field of automobile mechanics, noted that the supply fuel line is pressurized between 34 and 42 pounds per square inch, and the return fuel line runs at a pressure between 2 to 3 pounds per square inch. (Tr. 1045, 1048). Both of the flexible portions of these two fuel lines is comprised of a fiberglass weave material with a covering simply to protect the inner line from stone pecking; it isnot designed to prevent the line from being breached or severed. (Tr. 1188, 1193). A total of thirteen and a half ounces of gasoline is present in these two fuel lines during normal operation—eight ounces in the supply line and five and a half ounces in the return line. (Tr. 1049). A heat shield is located underneath these fuel lines, and a crease in this shield was created during the accident. (Tr. 1067-1068). The floor pan also had a fold caused by the accident in the area of the fuel lines and point of entry into the occupant compartment *Id*.

The fire patterns in the area of these fuel lines allowed Mr. Bush to opine to a reasonable degree of certainty that the fire began in the area of these fuel lines. (Tr. 908). The fire originated in this area under the floor pan and burned upward as it attacked the floor pan and rubber grommet, and once the grommet burned loose, the fire went up through the floor of the truck and attacked the driver's seat. (Tr. 913, 919). Evidence of a break was still present on one of these fuel lines in this area. (Tr.918). Contrary to the Appellee / Defendant's position, there is no evidence that the fire began inside the vehicle. (Tr. 923). Electrical arcing and sparking exist in the area of these fuel lines, and electrical arcing was more likely the ignition source of the gasoline contained in these breached fuel lines. (925-926).

Mr. Miller evaluated several fuel lines to compare them to the flexible fuel lines found in the subject vehicle. This comparative analysis revealed that the subject fuel lines located in the 1999 Ford F-150 were not nearly as strong as other alternative lines such as those found in the 1988 Chevrolet C-1500 pickup comprised of a braided steel material, or the supply and return line found in a 1997 Ford Taurus, which was a three part line of an inner tube, a rubber coating and a rocker/chafing guard on the outside, or the same fuel line as found on the 1999 Ford F-150 but with the plastic shield from the 1988 Chevrolet pickup. (Tr. 1124-1126, 1130-1131). No leaks occurred

in testing with any of these alternative fuel lines. (Tr. 1134).

Appellant's/Plaintiff's automotive design engineer, Mr. Jerry Wallingford, from inspecting the subject vehicle and performing evaluations of the bracket holding these two fuel lines, was able to opine that the pressurized supply line developed at the minimum a hole during the accident from which fuel escaped under pressure in a spraying pattern. (Tr. 1208, 1213). Appellee/ Defendant Ford knew or should have known about placing fuel lines in a hostile area as noted by their 1998 Fuel System Engineering Class and their corporate representative, Sunil Sharma. (Tr. 1215). The design hierarchy recognized by the automotive engineering community and by Ford first states that the problem needs to be identified and designed out, if it cannot be designed out, then guard it, and if cannot guard it, warn of the hazard, and if cannot do any of the above, then do not make the product. (Tr. 1216). One document recognized that a customer wants to have "protection from harm, no fire, collision and non-collision". *Id*.

A guard and/or shield to protect the flexible portions of the fuel lines was not only feasible but already in use by Ford and General Motors. (Tr. 1217). Extra protection should have been applied to the area of these flexible fuel lines that were breached, and this extra protection, as identified above, would have prevented this subject fire and Randy Coleman's death from occurring. (Tr. 1223-1224). Due to these failures by Appellee / Defendant Ford to provide adequate protection, the subject Ford F150 was in a defective condition and unreasonably dangerous. (Tr. 1232).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The verdict of the jury was against and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the result of an aggregate of errors and the introduction of inadmissible, privileged and inflammatory evidence and objectionable statements of counsel, and the result of bias, passion and/or prejudice as against the Appellant / Plaintiff, and justice requires a new trial be granted.

Numerous errors occurred during the trial of the present case which warrant the reversal of the trial judge's denial of Appellant's / Plaintiff's motion for new trial. First and foremost, the trial court incorrectly admitted evidence of the decedent's, Randy Coleman's, blood alcohol content and incorrectly allowed comparative fault principles as to the cause of the accident in an enhanced injuries, post-collision fuel fed fire case, which is in contravention of the law as stated in *Toliver v*. *General Motors Corp.*, 482 So. 2d 213 (Miss. 1986) and *Hunter v. General Motors Corp.*, 729 So. 2d 1264, 1271-72 (Miss. 1999).

The trial court also erred in denying the introduction of testimony and admission of Appellee's /Defendant's M.R.C.P. 30(b)(6) corporate representative. Although the trial court did state that certain portions of this excluded testimony was relevant, the trial court still excluded it from the trial. Error was further created in the trial when certain jury instructions regarding comparative fault were granted and in denying the limiting instruction relevant to enhanced injuries and in failing to give the preliminary note taking instruction.

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