IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2009-CA-00207

SANDRA COLEMAN, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF RANDY COLEMAN, DECEASED

Appellant

٧.

FORD MOTOR COMPANY

Appellee

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLEE FORD MOTOR COMPANY

Michael B. Wallace, Esq. (Market Rebecca Hawkins, Esq. (MB # WISE CARTER CHILD & CARAWAY, P.A. Post Office Box 651
Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0651

Telephone: (601) 968-5500 Telecopier: (601) 944-7738

J. Tracy Walker, IV, Esq.
Perry W. Miles, IV, Esq.
McGUIRE WOODS
One James Center
901 East Cary Street
Richmond, Virginia 23219-4030
Telephone: (804) 775-1000

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

D. The Court, having sustained Coleman's objection to Ford's argument concerning her failure to introduce evidence, did not abuse its discretion by not telling the jury to disregard it.

Coleman introduced no evidence at trial of any substantially similar accidents involving the fuel system of the Ford F-150 truck. Of course, had sufficiently similar accidents existed, that fact would likely have been admissible, <u>Johnson v. Ford Motor Co.</u>, 988 F.2d 573, 579 (5th Cir.1993), but Coleman presented nothing. Accordingly, in closing argument, Ford's counsel observed that "we would have heard loads of evidence about accident after accident. We haven't heard that." Tr. 1979-80. Mississippi law permits counsel to argue an adversary's failure to produce relevant evidence, <u>Bynum v. Swiss American of Miss.</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 367 So.2d 906 (Miss. 1978), and the Circuit Court erroneously sustained Coleman's objection. Tr. 1982. Coleman argues to this Court that the Circuit Court should have compounded its error by instructing the jury to disregard the argument. Even had the argument been objectionable, the Court clearly did not abuse its discretion in declining to go further than it did.

Coleman attempts to disguise her own lassitude in discovery as a trial error of the Circuit Court. She complains that Ford should have provided such evidence in discovery, but she knows that her ability to pursue that argument is foreclosed by her failure to file a motion to compel, as

this Court unmistakably held in <u>Tennin v. Ford Motor Co.</u>, 960 So.2d 379, 393-95 (Miss. 2007). Having failed to follow the steps provided by our law to secure relevant evidence, she seeks to restrain Ford from reminding the jury of her failure.

Moreover, Ford acted entirely properly in its response to a grossly overbroad discovery request. Coleman asked Ford to designate a witness to testify concerning all suits and claims since 1980 regarding "a propensity for the gasoline tank or fuel lines or components to ignite upon a collision or impact." R.E. 22, Ex. P-68 at 2. Ford timely objected to the overbreadth of the request, but nevertheless produced a list of suits and claims concerning post-collision fuel-fed fires in F-150 trucks for the model years 1997-2003, as well as a list of such claims and suits involving its somewhat similar F-250 truck for the model years 1997-1999. 40:5977 – 41:6025, 41:6028. Ford never agreed to produce a witness who could testify about every incident on the list, and Sunil Sharma did not do so.

Ford presented its corporate representative for examination on September 3, 2004, over three years before trial. Either before or after that deposition, Coleman's counsel could have examined the list of suits and claims to determine which ones it believed sufficiently similar to require further investigation. They could have asked the Court to compel further discovery. They did not do that and instead announced ready for trial on February 19, 2008. Tr. 126.

Tennin squarely forecloses their ability to complain about the discovery Ford produced.

Coleman's failure to cite a single case in support of her contention that the jury should have been admonished to disregard the argument demonstrates the peculiarity of her position. Ordinarily, where, as here, "the objection is sustained, it is further the duty of trial counsel to

Indeed, her failure to cite authority is fatal to her claim of reversible error on this issue. "[F]ailure to cite any authority in support of a claim of error precludes this Court from considering the specific claim on appeal." Grenada Living Ctr., LLC v. Coleman, 961 So.2d 33, 37 (Miss. 2007).

move for a mistrial." Smith v. State, 907 So.2d 389, 397 (Miss. App. 2005), cert. denied, 910 So.2d 574 (Miss. 2005). The decision whether to grant a mistrial is reviewed by this Court only for abuse of discretion. Lee v. State, 837 So.2d 781, 785 (Miss. 2003). Coleman, however, made the tactical decision not to seek a mistrial, but to seek only an instruction to disregard the comment to which objection had already been sustained. However, "in most situations, putting the jury on notice of an improper comment by counsel is sufficient to cure any prejudice to a defendant." Smith, 907 So.2d at 397. Moreover, while the Circuit Court in this case did not grant a special instruction at the time, it had already instructed the jury:

Arguments, statements and remarks of counsel are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law, but are not evidence. If any argument, statement or remark has no basis in the evidence, then you should disregard that argument, statement or remark.

39:5762. The Court's decision to sustain the objection was certainly sufficient to advise the jury of the Court's view that it lacked a proper basis. There is no reason to suppose that the jury ignored the instruction to disregard such remarks. The Circuit Court committed no reversible error in declining to tell the jury to disregard the true statement by Ford's counsel.

II. COLEMAN'S OTHER ARGUMENTS BEAR NO RELATION TO THE DETERMINATIVE VERDICT OF NO DEFECT AND OTHERWISE LACK MERIT.

Coleman devotes the vast majority of her argument to issues which have no bearing whatsoever on her claim of defect in the fuel system of the Ford F-150 truck, the theory the jury rejected by its verdict. In Part G of her argument she complains of the admission of the expert opinion of Ralph Newell as to possible ignition sources of the fire that he testified began inside

In a somewhat similar case, the Missouri Court of Appeals reviewed a trial court that sustained an objection but went no further. That Court declined to reverse absent "a manifest abuse of discretion," and it found "no abuse in the trial court's discretion in refusing to grant a mistrial or to instruct the jury to disregard the comment." Missey v. Kwan, 595 S.W.2d 460, 462 (Mo. App. 1980).

the cab even though she does not claim that any defect ignited the fire. In Part A, she contends at great length that the jury should not have been instructed on principles of comparative fault, nor should it have been told that her late husband's whole blood alcohol concentration was over 0.20%, well over twice the legal limit.

Coleman barely acknowledges that these issues have nothing to do with defect, the fundamental allegation that she failed to prove to the jury. In Part H she asserts in a perfunctory manner that "this aggregate of errors resulted in bias, passion and prejudice against the Appellant/Plaintiff." Coleman Brief at 37. As already noted, however, the jury's "verdict is entitled to substantial deference and may not be upset on appeal absent compelling reasons to do so." Whiddon, 822 So.2d at 1067. A Circuit Court's decision to reject a motion for new trial on the basis of passion and prejudice is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Shields v. Easterling, 676 So.2d 293, 298 (Miss. 1996).

In Part E of her brief, Coleman also faults the Circuit Court for not reading the preliminary instruction regarding jurors' note taking found in U.C.C.C.R. 3.14(2)(b). Coleman did not object to the Court's allowing the jury to take notes, nor did she fault the Court's comments to the jury at the start of the trial for not quoting verbatim from the rule. Tr. 331 ("you can't share your notes"; "[y]our notes are only for your own recollection"); Tr. 369-70 ("remember my instructions to you about note-taking"; "for your own recollections"; "can only use them to refresh your memory, not each other's memory"; says they will be sealed and kept by the bailiff at the end of each day). See also Tr. 1706 ("And I think I've told them from the beginning they're just for your use, you can't share them, you can't use them to refresh others' recollection, and, you know, I'll give them a similar instruction that says that."). Coleman did raise Rule 3.14 during the discussion of jury instructions, and the Court changed its standard instruction on the issue to conform to the rule. 39:5771, Tr. 1896-98, 1959. However, no error was intimated in the failure to quote the rule's preliminary instruction until Coleman confusingly stated in her post-trial motion that "[t]he Court erred in giving a Preliminary Instruction, as stated in Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 3.14, before permitting the jury to take notes." 40:5921.

Coleman makes no effort to establish how the Court's variances from the rule's language have resulted in any prejudice so as to require a new trial. See Vardaman v. State, 966 So.2d 885, 890-91 (Miss. App. 2007) (refusing to reverse where judge read instruction regarding note taking during examination of first witness as opposed to earlier because delay was harmless error; "[t]o warrant reversal on an issue, a party must show both error and a resulting injury"; "[a]n error is only grounds for reversal if it affects the final result of the case"); Martin v. State, 872 So.2d 713, 723 (Miss. App. 2004) (although was error at the time of trial to allow jurors to use notes during deliberations, error was harmless; court had instructed jury during jury instructions regarding the use of the notes without objection and the subsequent adoption of Rule 3.14 rendered any error harmless).

Coleman makes no effort to explain how error on any of these issues unrelated to defect could have affected the jury's verdict on that issue. Even if the Circuit Court erred on any or all of these issues, this Court cannot conclude that Circuit Court abused its discretion in denying Coleman a new trial. Accordingly, there is no need for this Court to address these issues at all. Should the Court nevertheless choose to do so, it must necessarily find that, not only did the Court not abuse its discretion, but its rulings were correct in every respect.

A. Ford's expert testimony on fire causation was properly admitted.

Coleman has never claimed that any defect in the Ford F-150 truck ignited the allegedly leaking fuel. Rather, she claims that a spark or some other source, which her expert William Bush could not identify with certainty, ignited a fire underneath the truck that was fed by leaking fuel. Tr. 925-26. Ford's expert, Ralph Newell, offered the contrary opinion that the fire originated in the cab of the truck, not underneath it. The fire was fed by the contents of a can of liquid electrical tape, not by gasoline from breached fuel lines. Newell stated his opinion without equivocation:

Based on my investigation and training, my opinion, my - - I determined this fire originated under the front seat of the F-150 operated by Mr. Coleman.

It did not - - it did not originate under the vehicle where the fuel lines were. This fire originated as a result as a flammable material in a can that was violated during the impact some way, became ignited. And that's the origin and cause of the fire.

Tr. 1597. Newell identified several possible sources of ignition within the cab of the truck, although, like Bush, he could not specify with certainty which one had caused the fire. Tr. 1622-23.

Coleman here repeats the argument she made before the Circuit Court that the failure to determine with certainty the source of the ignition rendered the entirety of Newell's opinion inadmissible. The Court cogently explained its reasons for rejecting this argument:

If your objection is that he can't say to a reasonable degree of certainty, based upon his expertise and training, what the origin was within the cab, and I apply that same standard, then I'm about to dismiss this case, because your expert, Wallingford, couldn't say to a reasonable degree of certainty we've got two origins. We've got a potential arcing problem or we've got a potential catalytic converter fire, or something hot, as I recall, and - - and Mr. Bush is the same way.

There's some - - within this, apparently, there's some latitude you have got to give these experts, and I have done that to Mr. Bush and Mr. Wallingford, about ignition sources.

Tr. 1593-94.

This Court has never required absolute certainty in all aspects of an expert's opinion. A trial court principally considers whether the opinion "will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." M.R.E. 702. Applying the rule established by the Supreme Court of United States in <u>Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.</u>, 509 U.S. 579 (1993), this Court has stated that expert opinion must be based "on the methods and procedures of science, not merely his subjective beliefs or unsupported speculation." <u>Mississippi Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore</u>, 863 So.2d 31, 36 (Miss. 2003). The decision to admit expert testimony is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>Adcock v. Mississippi Transp. Comm'n</u>, 981 So.2d 942, 946 (Miss. 2008).

Here, a whole host of evidence establishes that Newell's opinion is "based upon sufficient facts or data" and is otherwise reliable within the meaning of M.R.E. 702. Of substantial importance to Newell were the observations of the first witness, who arrived within a minute after the crash. Tr. 1601. That witness immediately saw smoke inside the cab, but none under the truck. Tr. 1602. Had the fire originated under the truck, it would have taken time to burn through the floor into the cab, but the witness saw smoke in the cab right away. Id. Indeed, because the driver's side of the trial was elevated, exposing the underside of the truck, the witness would have been unable to get close enough to see through the window had there been

fire under the truck. Tr. 1602-03. These practical observations, together with Newell's professional analysis, fully supported the opinion he offered the jury. Indeed, Coleman's expert Bush admitted the possibility that an ignition source within the cab could have ignited the liquid electrical tape. Tr. 971-72.

Coleman's counsel conducted a vigorous cross-examination of Newell. The Circuit Court properly trusted the jury to resolve this conflict in testimony. However, because Coleman failed to prove any defect in the F-150 truck, the jury never needed to do so.

B. The Court properly admitted unprivileged evidence of blood alcohol levels.

Coleman complains bitterly that the jury should never have learned that her husband's blood alcohol level at the time of the wreck was 0.23%. She claims that the medical tests on which that testimony was based are protected by the medical privilege of M.R.E. 503 and that she rendered the testimony irrelevant by purportedly limiting her claim to those losses caused by the allegedly defective fuel line, not by the wreck itself. The Circuit Court properly found the evidence unprivileged and relevant to multiple issues in this case, aside from its undoubted relevance to the cause of the collision.

In the first place, the Circuit Court properly found that no privilege attaches to evidence of the crime of drunk driving. Under <u>Jones v. State</u>, 858 So.2d 139 (Miss. 2003), the Court explained that, even if the privilege in this case had not been waived, public policy would demand that it not apply in these circumstances. R.E. 11, 32:4698-99. In <u>Jones</u>, this Court affirmed the decision of the Court of Appeals that, even though no statutory exception nor any of Rule 503's exceptions applied, "to ensure the proper administration of justice, the medical records regarding the analysis of Jones's urine specimen must be removed from the protection of the physician-patient privilege." <u>Id.</u>, at 142 (quoting <u>Jones v. State</u>, 881 So.2d 209, 215 (Miss. App. 2003)).

Clearly, then, if Coleman were being prosecuted for negligently causing the death of Hudson, he could not assert privilege. Relying on Edwards v. Ellis, 478 So.2d 282, 285 (Miss. 1985), which found that evidence "admissible against a criminal defendant, to whom the law affords greater protection, ... would certainly be admissible against a civil litigant," the Circuit Court found that evidence of blood alcohol must be admissible here. R.E. 11, 32:4699. If a drunk driver cannot exclude his blood alcohol to stay out of jail, he certainly cannot exclude it so as to extort damages from his victim or any other alleged tortfeasor. The Circuit Court properly found no privilege to attach.

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